
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 7/15/2016 12:26 PM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, July 21, 2016 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson T.J. Welch 

 Commissioners Ed Newman 

  Gayle Ortiz 

  Linda Smith 

  Susan Westman 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Jun 2, 2016 7:00 PM 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 3801 Clares Street #16-117 APN: 034-261-47 

Modification to the existing Conditional Use Permit to extend the hours of operation of a 
dialysis treatment center in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District.  
This project is not located in the Coastal Zone.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Capitola Roth Investments, LLC  
Representative: Frank E. Jesse, filed: 6/8/16 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – July 21, 2016 2 
 
B. 145 Wesley Street #16-056 APN: 036-172-02 

Design Permit for a remodel, expansion of existing garage, and second story addition to an 
existing single-family home located in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Noah and Heather Fox 
Representative: Judy and Wayne Miller, filed: 04/13/2016  
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. Verizon Wireless Antenna Facility at Utility Pole #3501 adjacent to 2091 Wharf Road

 #15-109  
Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the installation of a new Verizon wireless 
antenna and ancillary equipment on an existing utility pole in the Wharf Road right-of-way 
in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District. 
This project is not located in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Pacific Gas & Electric 
Representative: Jason Osborne, filed 6/30/15 
 

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

8. ADJOURNMENT 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – July 21, 2016 3 
 

 

APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following the date of 

the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is extended to 

the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a one hundred forty two dollar ($142.00) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal 

Permit that is appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a 

decision of the Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 

someone else raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence 

delivered to the City at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola 

Avenue, Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Agendas are also 

available at the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday 

meeting.  Need more information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 6/3/2016 8:17 AM 

DRAFT MINUTES
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING

THURSDAY, JUNE 2, 2016
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

1. ROLL CALL 
AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Commissioner Linda Smith: Present, Commissioner Gayle Ortiz: Present, Commissioner Edward 
Newman: Present, Chairperson TJ Welch: Present, Commissioner Susan Westman: Present.

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda - None
B. Public Comments - None
C. Commission Comments

Commissioner Ortiz noted that a large animal is preying on cats in the Riverview Drive area and 
recommended that pet owners keep them indoors overnight.

Chairperson Welch said the Police Appreciation Week fundraising dinner is June 6 and 7.

D. Staff Comments - None

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. Planning Commission Minutes of the Regular Meeting of May 5, 2016 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Gayle Ortiz, Commissioner
SECONDER: Edward Newman, Commissioner
AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman

4. CONSENT CALENDAR - NO ITEMS

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. 503 Capitola Avenue #16-008 APN: 035-093-12

Design Permit to remodel the existing commercial space and build two new residential units 
above, and a Variance request to allow architectural features to encroach into the side and 
rear yard setbacks located in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
not appealable to the California Coastal Commission.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Vincente Valente
Representative: Matson & Britton Architects, filed: 1/19/16

Commissioners Ortiz and Westman recused themselves because they own property within 
500 feet of the subject property and left the dais.

Senior Planner Katie Cattan presented the staff report and reviewed the variance requests. 
The project includes remodeling the existing non-conforming commercial space fronting 

3.A

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 2

Capitola Avenue. The proposed residential use meets parking requirements and setbacks. A 
variance is needed for bay windows and chimney in the side-yard setbacks, which are not 
permitted in the neighborhood commercial but are within the residential zoning districts. The 
project requires a variance to the 80 percent value limit to maintain the existing commercial 
portion. Its location close to the property line is not unusual along Capitola Avenue and 
maintains the development pattern, so staff supports the variance.

Martha Matson, architect, spoke in support of the project. 

Vincente Valente, property owner, noted that his family has planned for many years to update 
the property.

Commissioner Newman asked why the project was designed with variances for the 
residential portion. Ms. Matson replied they wanted it to maintain a residential look. Mr. 
Valente said he wanted a product that was attractive and the architectural elements help it 
stand out.

Sandy Pensinger owns property directly behind the project and said she supports preserving 
the charming village aesthetic. She feels the project has a massive scale in comparison to 
properties around it. She would prefer lower height and less lot coverage. She worries that 
the living room looks into the 502 Oak bedroom. She also expressed concerns about soil 
contamination from previous car repair use and quality of storm water runoff, and whether her 
property will get less sunlight. 

Edwin Mabie, long-time resident, agrees with his wife that the proposed structure is much 
larger than the existing building, and noted that their remodel met setbacks. He requested 
that the applicant remove the bay window facing bedroom and asked for a smaller chimney 
since wood-burning not permitted. He also asked about drainage.

Ms. Matson noted that parking is dictated by project size. The height is lower than the 
residential standard of 25 feet at that elevation and the 20-foot setback is larger than 
residential. They would consider larger trees to increase privacy. The project increases on-
site drainage with permeable concrete.

Chairperson Welch asked if there were shadowing studies. Planner Cattan said they were not 
provided and Ms. Matson said she doubted there would be an impact. Commissioner Smith 
confirmed the fireplace is gas and the type of heating.

Commissioner Newman said the project is a nice improvement to the existing structure. He 
can support the commercial variance, but is struggling with residential. The project is getting 
the benefit of CN zoning in coverage and he has trouble supporting the variances for 
encroachment.

Commissioner Smith also does not favor variances. The side bay window is not troubling and 
adds articulation, but the chimney is massive and unnecessary. She would not support the 
back bay. She likes the overall design and does not have concerns about daylight.

Chairperson Welch said the only way to have conforming properties is to deny variances. He 
does not feel that the lot creates development difficulties that would support the residential 
variances, but has no concern with the commercial.

Motion: Approve a Design Permit, Coastal Development Permit and Variance to the front-yard 
setbacks with the following conditions and findings:

3.A

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 3

CONDITIONS

1. The project approval consists of a remodel of the ground floor commercial site and an 
extensive demolition and addition within the residential first and second stories.  The 
application requires included a variance for front, side, and rear yard setbacks and 
exceeding the 80% valuation for a remodel of a non-conforming building.  The variance 
for the non-conforming commercial building was approved by the Planning Commission 
and the variance encroachments into the setbacks were denied by the Planning 
Commission.  At time of building plan submittal, the encroachments into the setbacks 
must be removed from the plan.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the 
final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on June 2, 2016, except 
as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans. 

4. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).  

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.  

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-008 
shall be paid in full.

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.  

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection.

3.A

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 4

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID).

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
Erosion and sediment control shall be installed prior to the commencement of 
construction and maintained throughout the duration of the construction project. 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way.

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards.

16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation.

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted.

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days. 

FINDINGS

A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purpose of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.

   The proposed remodel and addition do not shall comply with the setback standards of 
the Zoning Ordinance, but special circumstances exist in relation with reduced setbacks 

3.A

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 5

enjoyed by many surrounding properties and will secure the purpose of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
The proposed remodel and addition will update the structure improving the integrity of the 
building and neighborhood.  The variance to allow the existing non-conforming commercial 
structure to remain in the current location will maintain the character and development 
pattern along Capitola Avenue.  

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15302 of the California    
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations.
Section 15302 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the replacement or reconstruction of an 
existing structure on the same site with a new structure of the same purpose. This project 
involves a remodel of a commercial unit and replacement of residential in the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project 

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application of 
this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification;
The strict application of the code deprives the subject property of privileges enjoyed by 
other properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification.  There are numerous 
non-conforming structures within the 500 block of Capitola Avenue that exist within the front 
yard setback extend in the required setbacks.  

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated.
The existing development pattern of the block includes many existing non-conforming 
buildings that do not comply with front, side, and rear yard setbacks.  Grant of a 
variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the 
limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone. 

COASTAL FINDINGS

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of 
specific written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed 
development conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not 
limited to:

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan 
(LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as 
follows: 

(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for 
public access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) 
(2) (a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for 
the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial 
evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of 
approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which have been 

3.A

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 6

identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, 
“cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, 
including development allowed under applicable planning and zoning.

(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects 
upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the 
project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access 
and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and 
upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or 
cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for 
increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of 
the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such projected 
increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site and its proximity to 
the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages to 
tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the site, 
because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or 
enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities; 

 The proposed project is located at 503 Capitola Avenue.  The proposed project is not 
located in an area with coastal access. The proposed project will not have an effect 
on public trails or beach access.

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion 
or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence 
of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the 
season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and 
the proximity of that line to existing structures, and any other factors which 
substantially characterize or affect the shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile 
unrelated to the proposed development. Description and analysis of any 
reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of 
the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the 
project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability 
of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the 
vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in 
combination with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the 
public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas;

 The proposed project is located along Capitola Avenue.  No portion of the project is 
located along the shoreline or beach.  

(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the 
general public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). 
Evidence of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, 
blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to 
historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 

3.A

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 7

used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use); 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.    

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline;

 The proposed project is located on private property.  The project will not block or 
impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation 
areas, or views to the shoreline.  

 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or 
other aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to 
diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. 
Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public 
use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of 
public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of 
the development.   

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access 
and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or 
lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational 
value of public use areas.

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination 
that one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be 
supported by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all 
of the following:
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, 

bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be 
protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility 
which is the basis for the exception, as applicable;

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected;

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the 
subject land.
 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings 

do not apply
(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in 
support of a condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and 
manner or character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable:
a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 

supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use;

3.A

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 8

 The project is located in a neighborhood commercial lot.
  

b. Topographic constraints of the development site;
 There are no topographic constraints to the development site.  

c. Recreational needs of the public;
 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.

 
d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 

project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development;
e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 

the mechanism for securing public access;
f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 

part of a management plan to regulate public use.

(D) (5) Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and 
as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements);

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the proposed 
project

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
SEC. 30222
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry.

 The project involves a mixed use development on a neighborhood commercial lot 
of record.    

SEC. 30223
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible.

 The project involves a mixed use development on a neighborhood commercial lot 
of record.  

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors.

 The project involves a mixed use development on a neighborhood commercial lot 
of record.  

 (D) (7) Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision 
of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements;

 The project involves mixed use development on a neighborhood commercial lot 
of record.  The project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision for pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic 
improvements.  Parking requirements were not required to be met due to the 
minor modification and being that the project does not add heated square 
footage.

3.A

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 9

(D) (8) Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by 
the city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations;
 The project is requesting a variance from the setback standards and non-conforming 

valuation of the Municipal Code, but meets the other requirements of the code. The 
city’s architectural and site review committee reviewed the project and support the 
minor modifications to the existing residence. 

 
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public 
landmarks, protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract 
from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline;
 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The 

project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.  

(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services;
 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 

services.  

(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 
 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  Water is 

available at the location.  

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards;
 The project is for a mixed use development on a neighborhood commercial lot of 

record.  The GHG emissions for the project are projected at less than significant 
impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the soquel 
creek water district.

(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be 
required; 
 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance.

(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances;
 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.  

(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological 
protection policies; 
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established 
policies.

(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies;
 The project is not located in areas where Monarch Butterflies have been 

encountered, identified and documented.

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect 
marine, stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion;
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 

erosion control measures.

(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professional for projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal 

3.A

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 10

bluffs, and project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures;
 Geologic/engineering reports prepared by qualified professionals for this project may 

be required.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project 
applicant shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of 
the California Building Standards Code.  

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and 
mitigated in the project design;
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 

geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the 
project design.

  
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
 The proposed project complies with shoreline structure policies.

 
(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses 
of the zoning district in which the project is located;
 This use is a principally permitted use consistent with the Neighborhood Commercial 

zoning district. 

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project review procedures;
 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements 

and project development review and development procedures, except for the 
variance request for setbacks and non-conforming evalutation.

(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 
 The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program.

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [3 TO 0]
MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner
SECONDER: Linda Smith, Commissioner
AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch
RECUSED: Ortiz, Westman

B. 201 Esplanade #16-095 APN: 035-211-05
Sign Permit and Design Permit application for two new awning signs on the front of the 
building and two new awning signs on the rear of the building for Rocks of Petra restaurant 
located in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but is exempt from a Coastal Development Permit.
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Xavier Sanchez
Representative: Amjad Al Asad, filed: 5/6/16

This item was heard following 5.C, 1890 Wharf Road. Commissioner Ortiz returned to the 
dais. Planner Cattan presented the staff report. She noted the unique shape of the property 
that shares a corridor with the surrounding property. The front awnings do not extend into the 
public right-of-way, but the rear awnings are close to property line and could be extended into 
the adjoining property. The applicant has signed a pledge that it will not extend beyond the 

3.A

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 11

property line. She offered images of the already installed items, and noted that the text of two 
lines is more than has been permitted in other properties.

The awnings in front are clean and while they do not meet Village Design guidelines, they do 
meet building code accessibility requirement. The amount of window coverage will be within 
the 20 percent requirement. The applicant has requested to keep the existing non-conforming 
menu sign. 

She suggested modifying the conditions to add that temporary window signs meet the 20 
percent maximum, no sidewalk sign has been approved and adding the standard language 
that the permit may be brought back if conditions are violated.

Commissioner Westman said the sidewalk around the property public access way is 
described in the Local Coastal Program and believes there may be conditions that it be kept 
clear. She wants clarification of that use. Commissioner Newman asked when it became a 
dining area. Community Development Director Rich Grunow said staff can check if the 
applicant is entitled to use that area for seating.

Commissioner Ortiz confirmed low-level lighting on the front awnings.

Al Asad, applicant, spoke on behalf of the project. The restaurant changed its name following 
a repair closure. Heat from sun has been persistent problem and the back awning addresses 
this. The location causes confusion for access to Zelda's deck. Waiting Zelda's customers 
take tables from his restaurant and awnings help define the space.

Commissioner Smith asked if the retraction was available in a shorter size and was told not 
as a standard product.

Jill Ealy of Zelda's spoke in opposition to the rear awnings. There have been problems with 
them interfering with her staff’s mobility and there has been no one available at the 
applicant’s restaurant to reduce the extension. She thinks the signs are not appropriate.

Commissioner Newman said the City has not seen a lot of voluntary compliance from the 
applicant. He cannot find justification to permit awnings installed without a permit that can 
extend over another property. Other commissioners agreed.

Commissioner Smith asked to change condition #2 no new menu sign and add conditions 
recommended by staff.

Motion: Approve a Design Permit and Sign Permit for two front awnings with the following 
conditions and findings:

CONDITIONS

1. The project approval consists of two sign located on the front façade of 201 Esplanade 
in the CV (Central Village) zoning district.  The proposed project is approved as 
indicated in the conditions of approval reviewed and approved by the Planning 
Commission on June 2, 2016, except as modified through conditions imposed by the 
Planning Commission during the hearing.

2. Two new signs and one new menu sign are approved for the property at 201 Esplanade. 
The approved signs include: 

a. One (1) Awning Sign over the entrance on the front façade of the restaurant.  
The sign is 2 feet high by 8 feet wide and 2 feet 5 inches deep.    

3.A

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 12

b. One (1) Awning Sign over the to-go window on the front façade of the restaurant.  
The sign is 2 feet high by 5 feet wide by 1 foot 7 inches deep. 

c. Temporary window signs may cover up to 20% of windows.

3. The awnings must be kept clean and appear in good condition.  Awnings are vulnerable 
to the natural elements and therefore the awnings shall be replaced by the owner when 
they show signs of wear. 

4. A Building Permit for the front awning signs must be obtained from the Building 
Department within 30 days of approval by the Planning Commission.

5. Two retractable awnings were installed on the rear of the building without approval by 
the Planning Commission.  The two awnings on the rear of the building were denied by 
Planning Commission.  The awnings on the rear of the building must be removed within 
30 days of the denial by Planning Commission. 

6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes shall require Planning Commission approval.  

7. A sidewalk sign is not approved within this application.

8. The applicant was granted a sign permit for the restaurant at 201 Esplanade.  In any 
case where the conditions of the permit have not been or are not complied with, the 
community development director shall give notice thereof to the permittee, which notice 
shall specify a reasonable period of time within which to perform said conditions and 
correct said violation. If the permittee fails to comply with said conditions, or to correct 
said violation, within the time allowed, notice shall be given to the permittee of intention 
to revoke such permit at a hearing to be held not less than thirty calendar days after the 
date of such notice. Following such hearing and, if good cause exists therefore, the 
Planning Commission may revoke the permit. 

FINDINGS

A. The signage, as designed and conditioned, will maintain the character and 
aesthetic integrity of the subject property and the surrounding area. 
The two awning signs on the front of the building were designed to maintain the 
character and aesthetic of the Central Village district.  

B. The signage, as designed and conditioned, reasonable prevent and reduce the 
sort of visual blight which results when signs are designed without due regard to 
effect on their surroundings.  
The signs on the front of the building complement the building design and the 
Esplanade.  The two awnings proposed on the rear of the building have not been 
designed to fit within the architecture of the building or within the property lines and 
therefore have been denied.  

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Gayle Ortiz, Commissioner
SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner
AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman

3.A

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 13

C. 1890 Wharf Road #16-043 APN: 035-031-35
Variance request and Major Revocable Encroachment Permit to extend an existing non-
conforming roof overhang two feet further into the Wharf Road public right-of-way area and 
a Fence Permit height exception to allow for a six foot tall fence in the public right-of-way, 
located in the AR/R-1 (Automatic Review / Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: James P. DeMangos
Representative: James P. DeMangos, filed: 3/17/16 

This item was moved to follow 5.A, 503 Capitola Ave. Commissioner Westman returned to 
the dais.

Planner Ryan Safty presented the staff report. The existing home is non-conforming for front 
and side setbacks and fence location and height. He offered images of the various non-
conforming encroachments. Many neighboring properties also do not meet either setbacks or 
fence height. The environmental protection of Soquel Creek to the back creates a unique 
circumstance and since neighboring properties also encroach, the project would not be a 
special privilege.

Commissioner Newman said this project and location are a good example of when a variance 
is warranted. No commissioners had issues with the proposal.

Motion: Approve a Major Revocable Permit, Coastal Development Permit and Variance with the 
following conditions and findings:

CONDITIONS 

1. The project approval consists of a two-foot extension to an existing roof overhang and a 
new six-foot-high front yard fence (top two feet are lattice material) to be located within 
or above the public right-of-way at Wharf Road. A Major Revocable Encroachment 
Permit, Variance Permit, and Fence Height Exception have been approved within this 
application. The proposed project is approved by the Planning Commission on June 2, 
2016, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
during the hearing.

2. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards.

3. Within the revocable/hold harmless agreement, the owner must agree that the removal 
of the structure, when so ordered by the city, shall be at the permittee’s expense and not 
the expense of the city.   

4. There shall be no additional permanent structures located within the right of way without 
the issuance of a major permit by the Planning Commission. 

5. Prior to June 16, 2016, the applicant shall complete all submittal requirements to finalize 
the major revocable encroachment permit with the Public Works Department. The 

3.A

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 14

revocable encroachment permit shall be recorded within 90 days of the Planning 
Commission approval.

6. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Community Development Director.  All 
construction and site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans

7. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Community Development Director approval.  

8. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B

9. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans. 

10. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).  

11. In any case where the conditions to the granting of a permit have not been or are not 
complied with, the Community Development Director shall give notice thereof to the 
permittee, which notice shall specify a reasonable period of time within which to perform 
said conditions and correct said violation. If the permittee fails to comply with said 
conditions, or to correct said violation, within the time allowed, notice shall be given to 
the permittee of intention to revoke such permit at a hearing to be held not less than 
thirty calendar days after the date of such notice. Following such hearing and, if good 
cause exists therefor, the planning commission may revoke the permit. 

12. Prior to issuance of revocable encroachment permit and building permit, all Planning 
fees associated with permit #16-043 shall be paid in full.

13. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160.

14. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted.

FINDINGS
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan.

3.A

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 15

Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have 
reviewed the project.  A major revocable encroachment permit, variance permit, and 
fence height exception for the roof overhang and new fence will carry out the 
objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan.

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.
Community Development Staff and the Architectural and Site Review Committee 
have all reviewed the project. The project will maintain the character and integrity of 
the neighborhood. The proposed fence and roof extension to the single-family 
residence compliments the existing residences within the neighborhood. 

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations.
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor modifications to existing 
structures.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project.  

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, 
shape, topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict 
application of this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges 
enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under identical zone 
classification;
The strict application of the code deprives the subject property of privileges enjoyed 
by other properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification.  There are 
numerous non-conforming structures within the east side of Wharf Road that extend 
in the required front yard setbacks and contain fences higher than the 42 inch 
maximum.  

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone 
in which subject property is situated.
The existing development pattern of the block includes many existing non-
conforming buildings that do not comply with front yard setbacks and fence 
height and location requirements.  Grant of a variance permit would not 
constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with the limitations upon other 
properties in the vicinity and zone. 

COASTAL FINDINGS

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of 
specific written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed 
development conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but 
not limited to:

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal 
Plan (LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) 
are as follows: 

(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for 
public access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 

3.A

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 16

(D) (2) (a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used 
in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning.

(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification 
of existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities 
in the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 The proposed project is located at 1890 Wharf Road.  The home is not located in 
an area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or 
beach access.

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline 
conditions, including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, 
history of erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally 
during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to existing structures, and 
any other factors which substantially characterize or affect the shoreline 
processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. 
Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the 
primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement 
affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the 
character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and any other 
factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis of the 
effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination with 
other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas;

 The proposed project is located along Wharf Road.  No portion of the project is 
located along the shoreline or beach.  

3.A

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 17

(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the 
general public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). 
Evidence of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, 
blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). 
Identification of any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved 
the area subject to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance 
performed and improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the 
area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit 
public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from 
the proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use); 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.    

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along 
the tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to 
see the shoreline;

(E)
 The proposed project is located on private property on Wharf Road.  The 

project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.  

 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of 
the development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, 
streets or other aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are 
likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public 
recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational 
value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of 
recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to the individual or 
cumulative effects of the development.   

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact 
access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of 
tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas.

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any 
determination that one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a 
development shall be supported by written findings of fact, analysis and 
conclusions which address all of the following:
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable;
b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected;

3.A

Packet Pg. 20

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 18

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the 
subject land.

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these 
findings do not apply

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in 
support of a condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time 
and manner or character of public access use must address the following 
factors, as applicable:
a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the 
reasons supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by 
limiting the hours, seasons, or character of public use;

 The project is located in a residential lot. 

b. Topographic constraints of the development site;

 The project is located on a steep sloping lot.  

c. Recreational needs of the public;

 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public. 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting 
the project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the 
development;
e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of 
dedication is the mechanism for securing public access;
f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods 
as part of a management plan to regulate public use.

(D) (5) Project complies with public access requirements, including 
submittal of appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access 
whenever, and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 
(coastal access requirements);

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the 
proposed project

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
SEC. 30222
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry.

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.    

SEC. 30223

3.A

Packet Pg. 21

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 19

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible.

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.  

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing 
developed areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at 
selected points of attraction for visitors.

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record.  

 (D) (7) Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements;

 The project involves modification to an existing single family home.  The 
project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision for 
pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or traffic 
improvements.  Parking requirements were not required to be met due to the 
minor modification and being that the project does not add heated square 
footage.

(D) (8) Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, 
etc., by the city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with 
adopted design guidelines and standards, and review committee 
recommendations;

 The project is requesting a variance from the front yard setback standards and 
fence height limitations of the Municipal Code, but meets the other requirements 
of the code. The city’s architectural and site review committee reviewed the 
project and support the minor modifications to the existing residence. 

 
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public 
landmarks, protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or 
detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline;

 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s 
shoreline.  

(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services;

 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 
services.  

(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  
Water is available at the location.  

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards;

3.A

Packet Pg. 22

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 20

 The project is for a minor modification to a single family home.  The GHG 
emissions for the project are projected at less than significant impact. All water 
fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the soquel creek water 
district.

(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be 
required; 

 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit 
issuance.

(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable 
ordinances including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances;

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.  

(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological 
protection policies; 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies.

(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies;

 The project is not located in areas where Monarch Butterflies have been 
encountered, identified and documented.

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect 
marine, stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion;
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 

erosion control measures.

(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professional for projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or 
coastal bluffs, and project complies with hazard protection policies including 
provision of appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures;

 Geologic/engineering reports prepared by qualified professionals for this project 
may be requried.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the 
project applicant shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent 
version of the California Building Standards Code.  

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and 
mitigated in the project design;

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 
geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in 
the project design.

  
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
 The proposed project complies with shoreline structure policies.

 

3.A

Packet Pg. 23

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 21

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional 
uses of the zoning district in which the project is located;

 This use is a principally permitted use consistent with the Single Family zoning 
district. 

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project review procedures;

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning 
requirements and project development review and development procedures, 
except for the variance request to the roof overhang and the fence height 
exception request.

(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:
 
 The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit 

program.

RESULT: APPROVED [4 TO 0]
MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner
SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner
AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Westman
RECUSED: Ortiz

D. 231 Esplanade #15-198 APN: 035-211-01
Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the installation of a new Verizon wireless 
antenna and ancillary equipment on the roof of 231 Esplanade, a mixed-use building in the 
CV (Central Village) Zoning District.
This project is located in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption
Property Owner: Steve Yates
Representative: Jay Gruendle, filed 12/16/15

Planner Safty presented the staff report. The proposed cell facility would be encased in a 
faux vent screen to match existing ones. Other equipment located on the parapet wall is not 
visible from the street, but could be seen from neighboring buildings. He offered images from 
various elevations. FCC regulations override local zoning restrictions if the application can 
prove a service gap and the location is the least intrusive option. Third-party review supports 
the exception. Environmental concerns about radio frequency emissions are not grounds for 
denial based on federal law. 

Jay Greundle spoke on behalf of the application. He noted the substantial gap in service, 
reiterated that the location is the best choice, and visual impacts have been mitigated.

Commissioner Smith asked about the generator plug and how it extends into the sidewalk. 

Mr. Greundle described it as an Appleton plug. The generator is pulled on trailer and 
connects similar to a hose nozzle. He could not provide amperage.

3.A

Packet Pg. 24

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 22

Raj Mathur of Hammett and Edison, engineer, spoke in favor of the application. He evaluated 
the site for FCC standards and said they are 10 times below the limits. Commissioner Smith 
confirmed that emissions are not as strong for the residence under the facility since the 
waves extend horizontally.

Peter Wilk, Fanmar resident, questioned the need for a vent screen rather than the device 
itself since no standard roof equipment is attractive.

Marylin Garrett spoke in opposition to the project. She expressed frustration with the FCC 
exception for environmental concerns and questioned the evaluation of the levels. She 
distributed a summary of a recent National Toxicology Program study that concluded 
microwaves cause cancer.

Randall Tyler, whose mother lives on Prospect and is battling cancer, expressed concern 
about the project. He is disappointed that local regulations are overridden especially for 
locating near residences.

Sylvia Skefich, chiropractor, echoed concerns from findings in the recent study. She 
questioned why environmental concerns cannot be considered. She noted some conclusions 
come from proprietary information that the public cannot confirm. She will reach out to federal 
representatives to address these concerns.

Commissioner Westman asked if the faux vent screen causes the tower to exceed the height 
limit. The antenna is two feet, so unscreened it is beneath the height limit.

Commissioner Newman asked for clarification on the commercial use prohibition, which staff 
interprets as inhabited space.

Commissioner Smith expressed concern about the Appleton plug, which it appears would 
extend at least four inches into the sidewalk area. She wants it masked and does not support 
the parked generator. 

Commissioner Westman is more concerned with noise from the generator. 

Commissioner Smith  said federal law limits the scope of review and she is not comfortable 
ignoring a law. She does not feel the screen is needed.

Commissioner Westman agrees that the Planning Commission decision should not 
challengne law. She supports those who would work to have laws changed at federal level.

Commissioner Ortiz asked why our ordinances are not supported. Director Grunow said our 
zoning code predates laws limiting their scope.

Commissioner Newman also supports eliminating the screen to keep it within the height limit 
and would eliminate the plug.

Motion: Approve a Design Permit, Coastal Development Permit and Conditional Use Permit with 
the following conditions and findings:

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

1. The project approval consists of a new, small-cell wireless antenna facility on to an 
existing mixed-use commercial and residential building at 231 Esplanade.  The small-cell 
wireless antenna will be screened with a faux vent that extends roughly 2 feet 8 inches 
above the existing roofline.  The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final 
plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on June 2, 2016, except as 

3.A

Packet Pg. 25

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 23

modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

2. The small-cell wireless antenna will not be screened with a faux vent and must be 
located under the required 27-foot height limit for structures in the Central Village zone. 
shall be screened at all times.  Any modifications to the screening in the future require 
review and approval by the Planning Commission. 

 
3. All Planning fees associated with permit #15-198 shall be paid in full. 

4. The applicant was granted a design permit, conditional use permit, and location 
exemption for the installation of a new, small-cell Verizon wireless antenna facility on the 
rooftop of the existing commercial mixed-use building at 231 Esplanade.  In any case 
where the conditions of the permit are not complied with, the community development 
director shall give notice thereof to the permittee, which notice shall specify a reasonable 
period of time within which to perform said conditions and correct said violation. If the 
permittee fails to comply with said conditions, or to correct said violation, within the time 
allowed, notice shall be given to the permittee of intention to revoke such permit at a 
hearing to be held not less than thirty calendar days after the date of such notice. 
Following such hearing and, if good cause exists therefore, the Planning Commission 
may revoke the permit. 

5. The proposed backup generator was denied by the Planning Commission. The 
Community Development Director may approve of the generator facility if the applicant 
revises plans to show the plug removed from the front wall along Esplanade, the 
proposed location of the backup generator moved out of public parking, and noise 
reduction measures incorporated with the generator to meet City noise regulation 
standards as listed in the General Plan.

 
6. The applicant must maintain a bond or other form of security to the City’s satisfaction 

throughout the life of the project. The bond must be approved by the Community 
Development Director and be signed by both parties prior to building permit issuance.

7. The wireless communication facilities shall comply with all Federal Communication 
Commission (FCC) rules, regulations, and standards. Every two years the wireless 
telecommunications service provider shall submit to the director of community 
development: (1) a certification by a licensed engineer that the emissions are within the 
current FCC standards; and (2) a report on the level of cumulative radio frequency 
emissions within an eight hundred-foot radius from the subject antenna.

8. All roof-mounted facilities shall be painted with a non-reflective matte finish using an 
appropriate color that blends with the backdrop. The final choice of colors shall be 
approved by the community development department, in accordance with section 
17.98.120 of the Capitola Municipal Code.

9. The wireless communications facilities shall be constructed and operated in such a 
manner as to minimize the amount of noise impacts to adjacent uses and activities. 
Backup generators shall only be operated during power outages and for testing and 
maintenance purposes. At any time, noise attenuation measures may be required by the 
director when deemed necessary.

3.A

Packet Pg. 26

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 24

10. Testing and maintenance activities of wireless communications facilities which generate 
audible noise shall occur between the hours of eight a.m. and five p.m., weekdays 
(Monday through Friday, non-holiday) excluding emergency repairs, unless allowed at 
other times by the director. Testing and maintenance activities, which do not generate 
audible noise, may occur at any time, unless otherwise prohibited by the director.

11. All wireless communications providers shall provide signage, as required by the director, 
which shall identify the name and phone number of the wireless communications 
provider for use in case of an emergency.

12. The new wireless communications facilities shall be maintained by the wireless service 
provider in good condition. This shall include keeping all wireless communications 
facilities graffiti free.

13. At time of Building Permit submittal, the wireless carrier applicant must submit 
equipment specifications for all proposed rooftop equipment in order for the Building 
Department to verify existing structure’s load capacity. The Building Department may 
require a report prepared by a structural and electrical engineer.   

14. The wireless communications facility which provides service to the general public shall 
be designed to survive a natural disaster without interruption in operation. To this end, 
the measures listed in section 17.98.200 of the Municipal Code shall be implemented.

15. Wireless communications providers shall provide the city with a notice of intent to vacate 
a site a minimum of thirty days prior to the vacation, and all other forms of cessation of 
operation on-site shall follow the rules and regulations set forth in Municipal Code 
section 17.98.210.

16. In the event that the original permittee (Verizon) sells its interest in a wireless 
communication facility, the succeeding carrier shall assume all responsibilities 
concerning the project and shall be held responsible to the city for maintaining 
consistency with all project conditions of approval, including proof of liability insurance. A 
new contact name for the project (#15-198) shall be provided by the succeeding carrier 
to the community development department within thirty days of transfer of interest of the 
facility.

17. This permit shall be valid for a period of five ten years. An approval may be extended 
administratively from the initial approval date for a subsequent five ten years and may be 
extended administratively every five ten years thereafter upon the verification of the 
wireless communications provider’s continued compliance with Municipal Code chapter 
17.98 and with the findings and conditions of approval under which the application was 
originally approved. This does not apply to preexisting legal nonconforming uses.

18. Should the director determine that the wireless communications facility may no longer be 
in compliance, the director may, at his or her discretion, schedule a public hearing before 
the planning commission at which the planning commission may modify or revoke an 
approval in accordance with chapter 17.98.240 of the Municipal Code.

19. All wireless communications facilities shall meet the current standards and regulations of 
the Federal Communications Commission, the California Public Utilities Commission, 

3.A

Packet Pg. 27

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 25

and any other agency of the federal or state government with the authority to regulate 
wireless communications providers. If such standards and regulations are changed, the 
wireless communications provider shall bring its facilities into compliance with such 
revised standards and regulations within ninety days of the effective date of such 
standards and regulations, unless a more stringent compliance schedule is mandated by 
the controlling federal or state agency. Failure to bring wireless communications facilities 
into compliance with such revised standards and regulations shall constitute grounds for 
the immediate removal of such facilities at the wireless communications provider’s 
expense.

FINDINGS
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan.  
The Planning Commission reviewed and approved the applications with conditions of 
approval with respect to the maintenance, design and operation of the use to ensure that 
the new wireless facility will not have a negative impact on the surrounding commercial 
and residential uses and secure the general purposes of the Zoning Ordinance and 
General Plan. 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.  
The Planning Commission reviewed and approved the application with conditions of 
approval to ensure that the antenna is screened from public view so as to preserve the 
character and identity of the neighborhood.   

C. This project is categorically exempt under the Section 15303 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations.

The proposed project involves the construction of a new, small-cell Verizon wireless 
antenna facility. The project will result in a minor modification to the exterior of an 
existing structure. Section 15303 exempts new small structures and minor modifications 
to the exterior of an existing structure.  

COASTAL FINDINGS
D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of 
specific written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed 
development conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but 
not limited to:

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal 
Plan (LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) 
are as follows: 

(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for 
public access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 
(D) (2) (a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used 
in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 

3.A

Packet Pg. 28

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 26

probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning.

(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification 
of existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities 
in the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 The proposed wireless antenna project is proposed to be located on an existing 
mixed-use building at 231 Esplanade.  The existing building is located in an area 
with coastal access, but the new antenna will not have an effect on public trails or 
beach access.

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline 
conditions, including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, 
history of erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally 
during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to existing structures, and 
any other factors which substantially characterize or affect the shoreline 
processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. 
Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the 
primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement 
affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the 
character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and any other 
factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis of the 
effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination with 
other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas;

 The proposed project is located along Esplanade, adjacent to the beach. The 
proposed wireless facility will not affect the public beach or shoreline.
 

(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the 
general public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). 
Evidence of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, 
blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). 
Identification of any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved 
the area subject to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance 

3.A

Packet Pg. 29

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 27

performed and improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the 
area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit 
public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from 
the proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use); 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot, however it is located in an 
area with history of heavy public use.    

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along 
the tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to 
see the shoreline;

 The proposed project is located on private property on Esplanade.  The 
project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.  

 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of 
the development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, 
streets or other aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are 
likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public 
recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational 
value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of 
recreational use of public lands which may be attributable to the individual or 
cumulative effects of the development.   

 The proposed project is located on private property rooftop and will not 
impact access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use 
of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas.

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any 
determination that one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a 
development shall be supported by written findings of fact, analysis and 
conclusions which address all of the following:
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable;
b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected;
c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the 
subject land.

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these 
findings do not apply.

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in 
support of a condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time 
and manner or character of public access use must address the following 
factors, as applicable:

3.A

Packet Pg. 30

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 28

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the 
reasons supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by 
limiting the hours, seasons, or character of public use;

 The project is located in the Central Village, adjacent to the coast and Soquel 
Creek Riparian Corridor. The proposal consists of a minor structural addition 
to an existing roof top. The use will not be limited to seasons or hours. The 
project is required to comply with FCC regulations related to environmental 
and public health and safety.

b. Topographic constraints of the development site;
 The project is located on a flat lot.  

c. Recreational needs of the public;
 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public, however it will 

be visible from public right-of-ways. 
d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting 
the project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the 
development;
e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of 
dedication is the mechanism for securing public access;
f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods 
as part of a management plan to regulate public use.

(D) (5) Project complies with public access requirements, including 
submittal of appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access 
whenever, and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 
(coastal access requirements);

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights  are required for the 
proposed project

(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 

SEC. 30222
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry.

 The project is proposed to be located on an existing mixed-use 
lot of record.    

SEC. 30223
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible.

 The project is proposed to be located on an existing mixed-use lot of record. 
   

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing 
developed areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at 
selected points of attraction for visitors.

 The project is proposed to be located on an existing mixed-use lot of record.    

 (D) (7) Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements;

 The project involves an antenna addition to an existing mixed-use building. 
The proposal does not affect parking, and thus complies with applicable 

3.A

Packet Pg. 31

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 29

standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, and 
alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.   

(D) (8) Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, 
etc., by the city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with 
adopted design guidelines and standards, and review committee 
recommendations;
 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 

Municipal Code.   

(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public 
landmarks, protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or 
detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline;
 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The 

project will not block public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline, however it 
will be slightly visible to the public.  

(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services;
 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 

services.  

(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 
 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  

Water is available at the location.  

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards;
 The project is for a new small-cell wireless antenna facility.  The GHG emissions 

for the project are projected at less than significant impact. No water fixtures are 
proposed.

(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be 
required; 
 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit 
issuance.

(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable 
ordinances including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances;
 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.  

(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological 
protection policies; 
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies.

(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies;
 The project is outside of any identified habitats where Monarch Butterflies have 

been encountered, identified and documented.

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect 
marine, stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion;
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 

erosion control measures.

3.A

Packet Pg. 32

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – June 2, 2016 30

(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professional for projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or 
coastal bluffs, and project complies with hazard protection policies including 
provision of appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures;
 Geologic/engineering reports are not required for this application.  Conditions of 

approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with all 
applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California Building 
Standards Code.  

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and 
mitigated in the project design;
 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 

geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in 
the project design.

  
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies;
 The proposed project is not located along a shoreline.

 
(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional 
uses of the zoning district in which the project is located;

 The use is not allowed where it is proposed, being that it is within 500 feet of a 
restricted residential zone. An exception was made to the location standards due 
to the “significant gap” and “least intrusive means” findings.

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project review procedures;

 The project does not conform in that it is proposed in a restricted area. 

(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

 The project will not affect the Capitola parking permit program.

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner
SECONDER: Susan Westman, Commissioner
AYES: Smith, Ortiz, Newman, Welch, Westman

6. ADJOURNMENT
Approved by the Planning Commission at the regular meeting of July 21, 2016.

_____________________________________
Linda Fridy, Minutes Clerk

3.A

Packet Pg. 33

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
Ju

n
 2

, 2
01

6 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 21, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: 3801 Clares Street #16-117 APN: 034-261-47 
 

Modification to the existing Conditional Use Permit to extend the hours of 
operation of a dialysis treatment center in the CC (Community Commercial) 
Zoning District.  
This project is not located in the Coastal Zone.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Capitola Roth Investments, LLC  
Representative: Frank E. Jesse, filed: 6/8/16 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing a modification to the previously approved conditional use permit to 
extend the hours of the dialysis center operation. The hours were initially approved for 6:00 a.m. 
- 9:00 p.m. The applicant is proposing to extend the operation hours to 6:00 a.m. - 12:00 
midnight. The subject property is located at 3801 Clares Street, in the CC (Community 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On April 8th, 2011, the Planning Commission denied the application for a Conditional Use Permit 
for a medical office use (dialysis clinic) in the CC Zoning District. The Planning Commission had 
concerns with the medical use being located within a retail center.  The denial was appealed to 
the City Council.  On May 16, 2011, the City Council upheld the appeal and approved the 
dialysis center conditional use permit with the following conditions:  
 

1. The project approval consist of a Conditional Use Permit to operate a medical 
office/clinic within an existing vacant commercial space located at 3801 Clares St.  
 

2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must 
be approved by the Planning Commission.  

 
3. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of 

non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions.  
 

4. Business hours will be limited to 6:00 a.m. – 9:00 p.m.  
 

5. The applicant shall obtain approval for a Sign Permit through the Community 
Development Department.  

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 34



 
 

6. The applicant shall obtain a business license prior to operating the business. 
 

7. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall 
be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community 
Development Director.  

 
8. The applicant shall submit a landscape plan to enhance the existing landscaping on 

the site. The plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Community Development 
Director, and the landscaping installed prior to final occupancy.  

  
DISCUSSION 
Satellite Healthcare is a not-for-profit organization proposing change their operation hours at the 
Capitola facility from the current allowance of 6:00 a.m. - 9:00 p.m. to close at midnight. Satellite 
Healthcare is open Monday through Saturday. The facility contains 25 dialysis chairs which are 
occupied by a patient anywhere from 3 - 5 hours. Each patient comes in three days a week 
(Monday, Wednesday, Friday or Tuesday, Thursday, Saturday) for treatment.  
 
The applicant has identified a need to extend operation hours due to an increase in demand for 
dialysis chairs by Capitola’s residents. Later hours are preferred for patients who have full time 
jobs and cannot make it to the facility until after work. The additional three hours is meant to 
serve as an additional “shift” to accommodate these patients. No additional chairs are proposed, 
therefore there will be no increase in hourly visitation rates.  
 
Current operation hours accommodate an average of 64 patients a day. The proposed extended 
operation hours will serve an additional 12 to 14 patients, totaling to 76 to 78 patients per day. 
There will be no change in the number of staff members. A total of four staff members will 
remain on site during the extended hours to manage the facility and attend to patients.  
 
Parking is located along the southern, western, and northern sides of the building. The southern 
(front) lot contains a total of 20 parking spaces including 4 handicapped spots. The western 
(side) lot contains 11 parking spaces. The northern (back) lot contains 17 parking spaces. 
Patients park in the front or side of the building. The back parking lot is typically utilized by staff 
members. Patient drop off and pick up is located in the front of the building. Some patients use 
METRO ParaCruz however the shuttle stops operating by 5:30 p.m.  
 
Dumpsters and a delivery area is located in the back of the building. Trash pickup and deliveries 
are performed during morning hours after 10:00 a.m. The extended hours will not cause a 
change in pickup and delivery times.   
 
The subject property contains a 7,896 square foot building. Per the Parking Ordinance, medical 
office and clinics require one space for each 300 square feet of gross floor area or five space 
per doctor, whichever is greater. Due to the nature of this type of medical clinic, it is not possible 
nor appropriate to apply the requirement for spaces per doctor. Therefore, at one space for 
each 300 square feet of floor area, the proposed use exceeds the required 27 parking spaces.    
 
Patients utilizing the chairs during the extended hours will arrive as late as 7:30-8:00 p.m..  
Since the treatment takes a minimum of 3 hours, patients arriving at this time will be leave 
before the midnight closure time.  
 
Pursuant to 17.60.030, in considering a CUP, the Planning Commission must give due regard to 
the nature and condition of all adjacent uses and structures.  In issuing a CUP, the commission 
may impose requirements and conditions with respect to location, design, siting, maintenance 

4.A

Packet Pg. 35



 
 
and operation of the use as may be necessary for the protection of the adjacent properties and 
in the public interest.  The commission may include such conditions as the commission deems 
reasonable and necessary under the circumstances to preserve the integrity and character of 
the district and to secure the general purposes of the zoning code and general plan.  Such 
conditions may include time limitations. 
 
The dialysis center is located in the Community Commercial zone and adjacent to the R-1 
(single-family) zone.  There are three single-family residences located to the north behind the 
dialysis center. A Pier 1 retail store is located to the east, Browns Ranch multi-tenant 
commercial center to the west, and the mall to the south of the dialysis center.   
 
In reviewing the request to extend the hours of operation, impacts to the surrounding properties 
must be assessed.  The dialysis center is a medical facility that has limited influence on 
neighboring properties due to the function of the dialysis being primarily internal.  The facility 
functions as a small medical office with minor impacts to the outside other than parking, 
deliveries, and increased traffic.  
 
Impacts of extending the hours from 9 p.m. to midnight are noise and lighting in the late night 
hours.  The area between the dialysis center and the single-family homes is utilized as 
employee parking, deliveries, and trash storage. There is a 6 ½ foot high concrete wall located 
between the dialysis center and the homes used to mitigate noise and lighting impacts. Two 
lamp posts are located in the planter area between the parking lot and the concrete wall. These 
lamp posts are controlled by photocells and respond to daylight. Two motion detector operated 
lights are located in the back of the building underneath an overhang and are utilized to thwart 
burglary and vandalism.  The extended hours will not change any outdoor lighting at the site.  
 
The Planning Commission may include reasonable conditions to preserve the integrity and 
character of the district.  Brown’s Ranch has conditions tied to its master use permit that 
deliveries and garbage pickup are limited to the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  Staff included 
condition of approval #9 to mirror the delivery and trash pickup requirements of Brown’s ranch.  
Condition of approval #10 requires a sign next to the employee exit stating that the back parking 
area is a quiet zone after 7 pm.  No idling or loitering allowed. The original conditions of the 
permit that are still relevant to the conditional use permit are included.  
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations. The 
proposed project involves the extension of operation hours for a dialysis facility.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either the Planning Department 
Staff or the Planning Commission. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve application 
#16-117 for an extension of operation hours to a previously approved application # 12-116, 
based on the findings and conditions.  
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 

1. The project approved consists of a Conditional Use Permit to operate a medical 
office/clinic within an existing vacant commercial space located at 3801 Clares Street. 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 36



 
 

2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be 
approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

3. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-
compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions.  
 

4. Business hours will be limited to 6:00 a.m. – 12:00 a.m.   
 

5. The applicant shall obtain approval for a Sign Permit through the Community 
Development Department. 

  
6. Deliveries and trash pickup are limited to the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. daily. 

 
7. A notice must be posted at all times next to the employee exit stating that the back 

parking area is a quiet zone after 7 pm.  No idling or loitering is allowed.     

 
FINDINGS 
(A) The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the application and determined that the proposed business may be granted a modification to 
the existing conditional use permit to extend the operation hours until midnight within the CC 
Zoning District. The use meets the intent and purpose of the Community Commercial Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the use is consistent with 
the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 

(B) The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
Community Development Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed 
the proposed use and determined that the use complies with the applicable provisions of the 
Zoning Ordinance and maintains the character and integrity of this area of the City. 
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out these objectives. 
 

(C) This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
The proposed project involves the extension of operation hours for a dialysis center.  No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by either the Planning 
Department Staff or the Planning Commission. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Frank Jesse Letter 
 
Prepared By: Katie Cattan 
  Senior Planner 

4.A

Packet Pg. 37



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ra
n

k 
Je

ss
e 

L
et

te
r 

 (
15

43
 :

 3
80

1 
C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

ra
n

k 
Je

ss
e 

L
et

te
r 

 (
15

43
 :

 3
80

1 
C

la
re

s 
S

tr
ee

t)



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 21, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: 145 Wesley Street #16-056 APN: 036-172-02 
 

Design Permit for a remodel, expansion of existing garage, and second story 
addition to an existing single-family home located in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) Zoning District. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Noah and Heather Fox 
Representative: Judy and Wayne Miller, filed: 04/13/2016  

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application is for a design permit to remodel the existing first story with a new covered 
entryway and enlarged garage, and construct a new 1,087 square foot second-story addition 
onto the single-family home located at 145 Wesley Street. The project is located in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  
 
BACKGROUND 
On May 11, 2016, the application was reviewed by the Architectural and Site Review 
Committee.  The committee provided the following direction to the applicant: 
 
City Planner, Ryan Safty: Informed the applicant that the design did not comply with height and 
setback requirements for the R-1 zone.  He also requested details on the trellis and bay window.   
 
Building Official, Brian Van Son: Informed applicant of fire regulations.   
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: Required a site drainage plan to be submitted 
with the planning application.  
 
Local Architect, Frank Phanton: Identified a concern with the second story deck and windows on 
the south side of the building relative to privacy.  Otherwise, he thought the overall design of the 
home was an improvement and suggested that the owner utilize a quality rock veneer product 
that looks real.    
 
Local Landscape Architect, Megan Bishop: Requested that the details of the trellis be shown on 
the plans.    
 

4.B

Packet Pg. 40



 
 
Following the request of the Architectural and Site Review Committee, the applicant modified 
the design of the home to decrease the height, remove the second story deck, and change the 
design of the windows on the south side.  A detail of the trellis was added to the plans.    
 
Site Planning and Zoning Summary 
The following table outlines the development standards for structures in the R-1 Zoning District 
relative to the application. The application is in compliance with all applicable development 
standards of the zone.    

 
R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 

Development Standards 

Building Height R-1 Regulation Proposed 

 25'-0" 25’ 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 6428 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 48 % (Max 3,085 sq. ft.) 

  First Story Floor Area 1,965 sq. ft. 

 Second Story Floor Area 1,087 sq. ft. 

 Covered and Second Story Decks 114 sq. ft. (up to 150 exempt) 

   TOTAL FAR 3,052 sq. ft.  

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

Corner lot? If yes, update regulations for corner lots No 

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 feet 19 ft. from right-of-way 

Front Yard  2nd Story & 
Garage 

20 feet 34 ft. from right-of-way 

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width 62 
6 ft. min. 

6 ft. from property line 

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of 
width 

Lot width 62   
9 ft. min 

9 ft. from property line 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% of 
lot depth 

Lot depth  100 
20 ft. min. 

34 ft. from property line 

Rear Yard 2nd Story 20% of 
lot depth 

Lot depth 100 
20 ft. min 

34 ft. from property line 

Encroachments (list all)  Second story bay window 
complies with encroachments 
and 20% allowance.   

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2,601 up to 
4,000 sq. ft.) 

4 spaces total 
1 covered 

4 spaces total 
2 covered 
2 uncovered 

Garage and Accessory Bldg. Complies with Standards? List non-compliance 

Garage Yes Complies 

Accessory Building N/A N/A 

Underground Utilities: Required with 25% increase in 
area 

Yes.  Underground Utilities 
required. 

 
DISCUSSION 

4.B

Packet Pg. 41



 
 
The home at 145 Wesley Street is located in the Cliffwood Heights neighborhood.  Properties 
throughout Cliffwood Heights are relatively larger than most R-1 properties within the City.  
There are a mix of one and two-story homes throughout the neighborhood.  Multi-family 
properties are located along the periphery of the neighborhood along Park Avenue and 
Kennedy Drive. 
 
The subject property contains an existing one-story 1,782 square foot home. The applicant is 
proposing to remodel the existing first story with a new covered entryway and enlarged garage, 
and construct a new 1,087 square foot second-story addition to the home (Attachment 1).  The 
exterior of the home will be completed updated.  The existing front door is located on north 
elevation oriented toward the driveway.  The entry to the home will be improved with a covered 
porch leading to a front door oriented to the street.  Currently, the exterior finish consists of 
stucco and T-11 siding.  The remodel will introduce a stone wainscot on the first story and 
shingle siding on the second story.  The new roof will have one and a half foot overhangs and 
incorporate knee brace finishes throughout to create a craftsman look.  The color and materials 
board includes a mock-up of the proposed finish details in color (Attachment 2).   
 
The landscape plan includes a new walkway leading from the sidewalk to the new front porch, 
pervious pavers along the side of the home, and buffalo turf grass installed above a retention 
area in the front yard.  One crepe myrtle tree and one olive tree will be planted in the front yard 
along with a mix of perennials. A new ten foot high trellis will be installed along the rear property 
line in front of the existing fence.    
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15301(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures. This project 
involves construction of a 1259 square foot addition to an existing home in the R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) Zoning District that is not located in an environmentally sensitive area.  No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve project 
application    #16-056, based on the conditions and findings of approval.   
 
CONDITIONS 
 

1. The project approval consists of remodel of the first floor, a 172 square foot addition to 
the garage and a 1,087 square foot addition of a new second-story to an existing 1,782 
square foot residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 6428 square foot property 
is 48% (3,085 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 3,052 square feet, compliant 
with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposal also includes a 114 square foot 
covered entryway, which is not counted towards the FAR. The proposed project is 
approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning 
Commission on July 21, 2016, except as modified through conditions imposed by the 
Planning Commission during the hearing.  
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the building plans must show that the 
existing overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  

4.B

Packet Pg. 42



 
 

 
4. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 

printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

5. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).   

 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit # 16-056 
shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 

4.B

Packet Pg. 43



 
 

of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

 
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

20. In any case where the conditions to the granting of a permit have not been or are not 
complied with, the community development director shall give notice thereof to the 
permittee, which notice shall specify a reasonable period of time within which to perform 
said conditions and correct said violation. If the permittee fails to comply with said 
conditions, or to correct said violation, within the time allowed, notice shall be given to 
the permittee of intention to revoke such permit at a hearing to be held not less than 
thirty calendar days after the date of such notice. Following such hearing and, if good 
cause exists therefor, the Planning Commission may revoke the permit.  

 
FINDINGS  
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the single family home. The project 
conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) zoning district. 
Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan.  

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project conforms to the 
development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) zoning district. The project as 
designed maintains the character and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposed addition 
with front entryway compliments the existing single-family homes in the neighborhood.  

 

4.B

Packet Pg. 44



 
 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301-E of the California    

Environmental  Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 
This project involves the addition to an existing single-family residence in the R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) Zoning District. Section 15301-E of the CEQA Guidelines exempts 
additions to existing homes in a residential zone. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 145 Wesley Plans 
 
Prepared By: Katie Cattan 
  Senior Planner 

4.B

Packet Pg. 45



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
P

la
n

s 
 (

14
51

 :
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
P

la
n

s 
 (

14
51

 :
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
P

la
n

s 
 (

14
51

 :
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
S

tr
ee

t)



4.B.1

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
P

la
n

s 
 (

14
51

 :
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
S

tr
ee

t)



COLORS AND MATERIALS FOR PROPOSED RESIDENCE 

145 WESLEY STREET, CAPITOLA, CA 

APN-036-172-02

ALL PAINT COLORS ARE BENJAMIN MOORE 

"Taupe" HC-85   "Oak Bark  Wi   
Stucco  Trim, Doors & Beams  GAF Timberline®        Wall Shingles Wall Stone

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
P

la
n

s 
 (

14
51

 :
 1

45
 W

es
le

y 
S

tr
ee

t)



 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: JULY 21, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Verizon Wireless Antenna Facility at Utility Pole #3501 adjacent to 2091 
Wharf Road #15-109  
 

Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the installation of a new Verizon 
wireless antenna and ancillary equipment on an existing utility pole in the Wharf 
Road right-of-way in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District. 
This project is not located in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal 
Development Permit.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Pacific Gas & Electric 
Representative: Jason Osborne, filed 6/30/15 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to construct a new wireless antenna facility on an existing wooden 
utility pole located within the Wharf Road public right-of-way. The new antenna would increase 
the height of the existing utility pole by seven feet-eight inches, and would be visible from Wharf 
Road. The proposed antenna facility would not comply with location standards established by 
the Capitola Zoning Ordinance.  
 
BACKGROUND 
On June 30th, 2015, the City received an application from Verizon. On August 12th, 2015, the 
application was reviewed by the Architectural and Site Review Committee. During the meeting, 
public works staff informed the applicant that an encroachment permit is required prior to any 
work within the public right-of-way, and planning staff informed the applicant that the application 
was incomplete and additional information is required to continue processing the application, 
including documentation of a significant coverage gap and evidence that the facility would be 
the least intrusive means to address the gap. The applicant has since provided the necessary 
information. On June 13th, 2016, the application was deemed complete. 
 
ANALYSIS  
A wireless facility that is not co-located, is located within the right-of-way of a restricted zone, 
and does not incorporate stealth technology, requires a Conditional Use Permit (§17.98.040). 
The Capitola Municipal Code restricts wireless antenna facilities from being located within 500 
feet of a residential, public facility, transient rental use, or parks and open space zoning district. 
In addition to the required 500 feet setback to restricted zones, the code also states that “in no 
event” may a new wireless facility be located within 300 feet of a restricted zoning district.   
(Attachment 2).  
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 51



 
 
The proposed wireless antenna would be located on an existing utility pole located within the 
Wharf Road public right-of-way in the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning district. The proposed site 
would be located within a restricted zone and would not comply with setbacks to restricted 
zoning districts.  The proposed wireless facility is within 300 feet of the restricted land uses 
including: Public Facility, Mobile Home Exclusive, Multi-Family Residential, and Planned 
(residential) Development 
 
The Planning Commission may not deny an application based on environmental effects of 
Radio Frequency (RF) emissions. According to Section 332(c) of the Communications Act, “No 
State or local government or instrumentality thereof may regulate the placement, construction, 
and modification of personal wireless service facilities on the basis of the environmental effects 
of radio frequency emissions to the extent that such facilities comply with the Commission’s 
regulations concerning such emissions.”  
 
The Telecom Act (Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996) states that local governments 
cannot prohibit personal wireless communication services. Although the Capitola Municipal 
Code states that in no event may a new facility be located within 300 feet of a restricted zoning 
district, the FCC’s regulations pertaining to wireless telecommunication facilities may preempt 
the City’s ability to deny a permit if the applicant can demonstrate that the City’s regulations are 
tantamount to prohibiting the provision of wireless services.  In order to be exempt from the 
code’s setback restrictions, the applicant must demonstrate that the new facility would eliminate 
or substantially reduce a significant gap in the carrier’s network and that there are no 
alternatives to the location and design of the facility that could reduce said gaps in the “least 
intrusive means” possible.  
    
Significant Gap Analysis 
Verizon submitted existing and proposed cell coverage maps of Capitola and surrounding areas 
to illustrate that a gap exists in the current cell coverage.  Verizon also included capacity 
demand graphs to illustrate that the demand of existing antennae facilities within City limits are 
approaching capacity limits, and drive tests measuring service levels and data throughput within 
the area surrounding the proposed facility (Attachment 1).  
 
According to Verizon representatives, the purpose of small-cell “capacity sites” are to help 
offload data from nearby cell sites when they have reached their data capacity during busy 
periods of the day and their existing cell sites are (or will soon become) heavily exhausted with 
too many connected users and very low data speed. The specific purpose of this site along 
Wharf Road is to better serve the library site and surrounding residences since increasingly 
more and more people are using wireless services within their homes.  
 
The coverage, capacity, and drive test reports show that there is a lack of cellular coverage and 
capacity within this area of Capitola. Per the existing and proposed coverage maps, there is a 
lack of “Good In-Building” coverage within the area directly south of the Capitola Library and the 
proposed new cell site will fix this gap in coverage. The capacity graphs show that existing 
capacity of the nearby Live Oak facility has reached capacity exhaustion. The drive test report 
conducted on March 29, 2016, demonstrates that residential neighborhoods west and south of 
the library are experiencing “unacceptably weak LTE signal” and slow data download speed.  
 
Least Intrusive Means Analysis 
In addition to the applicant proving that a “significant gap” exists, the applicant must also 
demonstrate that their proposal constitutes the least intrusive means to mitigate a significant 
gap. The applicant must show that they have made an effort to identify and evaluate less 
intrusive alternatives that would most closely conform to the values of the local agency. Verizon 

5.A

Packet Pg. 52



 
 
must therefore demonstrate that they have considered alternative antenna and equipment 
designs and co-location or less sensitive site locations.  
 
Design Review 
The proposed antenna would be mounted to an existing 40 foot-two inch utility pole which would 
be extended by seven feet-eight inches, with a total proposed height of 47 feet-ten inches.  
 
The antennae facility would consist of a two foot tall canister located at the top of the new pole 
extension. Below the canister antenna would be a six foot Power Safety Zone, which is required 
by the California Public Utilities Commission. Additionally, the applicant is proposing to install 
new conduits, pole steps, a four foot tall, one and one-half foot wide equipment cabinet which 
projects roughly 11 inches, two new remote radio heads, an electrical meter, as well as other 
ancillary equipment. There will be no equipment located on the ground.  
 
The Capitola Municipal Code does not include design standards for wireless facilities located on 
a utility pole. The antenna and ancillary equipment are proposed to be painted mesa brown with 
a non-reflective finish to match the design of the existing utility pole. Verizon provided a 
statement on potential screening techniques, explaining that the proposed antennas will be 
hidden within canister equipment and that due to the required height of the proposed antenna 
there are no practical means available to completely conceal the facility without impacting the 
existing utility service.  
 
Staff feels the design of the proposed wireless facility complies with the municipal code 
requirements. Although the new facility will be visible, it will not be visually intrusive. The new 
equipment will match the color and design of the existing pole in an area lined with other utility 
poles, and is not located in a sensitive view corridor.  
 
Site Location 
Per Verizon’s capacity and coverage information, there is a gap in cell coverage directly south 
of the Capitola Branch Library, along Wharf Road, Clares Street, 48th Avenue and Capitola 
Road. In order to obtain an exception to construct the facility in a restricted zone, Verizon must 
prove that they have reviewed alternative locations.   
 
Verizon focused their search along the northern portion of Wharf Road, specifically within the 
Wharf Road right-of-way. This area is primarily residential. Since there are no industrial or 
commercial sites within the search area, Verizon limited their search to existing telephone or 
utility poles.  
 
The applicant provided an Alternative Site Analysis for the new antenna facility, which shows 
that they analyzed multiple utility pole locations along Wharf Road and Clares Street. Verizon’s 
first choice was an existing utility pole adjacent to the Rispin Park property. Verizon contacted 
the Public Works Department, who requested that the site be relocated due to the pending park 
project. Verizon reviewed five other utility poles within their search area. The only other utility 
pole site that could feasibly hold Verizon’s proposed facility is the proposed location in front of 
2091 Wharf Road. 
  
Planning Staff analyzed Verizon’s location information and researched alternative sites that 
could potentially help fill the alleged gap while better meeting the setback restriction. Verizon’s 
proposed gap area is located in a primarily residential area. The nearest allowed zoning location 
is nearly 900 feet north at the Capitola Auto Mall, which is zoned Community Commercial and is 
listed on Verizon’s planned new facilities map. Staff requested that the applicant review this site 
and explain why this location would not fill the coverage gap. Verizon explained that the Auto 

5.A

Packet Pg. 53



 
 
Mall site is a “very short site” due to the landlord’s restrictions and zoning height regulations. 
Verizon also stated that several rows of trees on Swallow Lane and Woolsey Circle would 
obstruct service to the target coverage area, including the Capitola Branch Library. Verizon 
indicated that they would need many more small-cell sites to meet the demands of service if the 
proposed site was not utilized.  
 
CEQA 
This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California Environmental Quality 
Act. The proposed project involves the construction of a new, small-cell Verizon wireless 
antenna facility on to an existing utility pole. The project will result in a minor addition to the 
existing utility pole. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during project review by 
staff. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #15-109 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval.  
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1.  The project approval consists of a new, small-cell wireless antenna facility on to an 

existing utility pole in front of 2091 Wharf Road. The new antenna facility will consist of a 
two foot tall canister antenna located on top of the utility pole. The existing utility pole 
will be extended by seven feet-eight inches to accommodate the new antenna 
equipment, cross arm, conduits, pole steps, equipment cabinet, two remote radio heads, 
and electrical meter. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on July 21st, 2016, except as modified 
through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 

 
2.  All Planning fees associated with permit #15-109 shall be paid in full.  
 
3.  The applicant was granted a design permit, conditional use permit, and location 

exemption for the installation of a new, small-cell Verizon wireless antenna facility on an 
existing wooden utility pole (#3501) in front of 2091 Wharf Road. In any case where the 
conditions of the permit are not complied with, the community development director shall 
give notice thereof to the permittee, which notice shall specify a reasonable period of 
time within which to perform said conditions and correct said violation. If the permittee 
fails to comply with said conditions, or to correct said violation, within the time allowed, 
notice shall be given to the permittee of intention to revoke such permit at a hearing to 
be held not less than thirty calendar days after the date of such notice. Following such 
hearing and, if good cause exists therefore, the Planning Commission may revoke the 
permit.  

 
4.  The applicant must maintain a bond or other form of security to the City’s satisfaction 

throughout the life of the project. The bond must be approved by the Community 
Development Director and be signed by both parties prior to building permit issuance. 

 
5.  The wireless communication facilities shall comply with all Federal Communication 

Commission (FCC) rules, regulations, and standards. Every two years the wireless 
telecommunications service provider shall submit to the director of community 
development: (1) a certification by a licensed engineer that the emissions are within the 
current FCC standards; and (2) a report on the level of cumulative radio frequency 

5.A

Packet Pg. 54



 
 

emissions within an eight hundred-foot radius from the subject antenna. 
 
6.  All utility pole-mounted facilities shall be painted with a mesa brown, non-reflective matte 

finish using an appropriate color that blends with the backdrop. The final choice of colors 
shall be approved by the community development department, in accordance with 
section 17.98.120 of the Capitola Municipal Code. 

 
7.  The wireless communications facilities shall be constructed and operated in such a 

manner as to minimize the amount of noise impacts to adjacent uses and activities. 
Backup generators shall only be operated during power outages and for testing and 
maintenance purposes. At any time, noise attenuation measures may be required by the 
director when deemed necessary. 

 
8.  Testing and maintenance activities of wireless communications facilities which generate 

audible noise shall occur between the hours of eight a.m. and five p.m., weekdays 
(Monday through Friday, non-holiday) excluding emergency repairs, unless allowed at 
other times by the director. Testing and maintenance activities, which do not generate 
audible noise, may occur at any time, unless otherwise prohibited by the director. 

 
9.  All wireless communications providers shall provide signage, as required by the director, 

which shall identify the name and phone number of the wireless communications 
provider for use in case of an emergency. 

 
10. The new wireless communications facilities shall be maintained by the wireless service 

provider in good condition. This shall include keeping all wireless communications 
facilities graffiti free. 
 

11. The height of the utility pole with the new small-cell wireless antenna facility is 47 feet-ten 
inches.  This is the maximum height approved by the Planning Commission.  Future facility 
updates shall not exceed the approved height of 47 feet-ten inches.  Future facility updates 
shall not attach additional mass to the utility pole or antenna without the approval of the 
Planning Commission. 
    

12. The applicant must obtain an Encroachment Permit from the Public Works department for 
the one and a half foot retaining wall located within the city right-of-way. 

 
13. At time of Building Permit submittal, the wireless carrier applicant must submit 

equipment specifications for all proposed pole-mounted equipment in order for the 
Building Department to verify existing structure’s load capacity. The Building Department 
may require a report prepared by a structural and electrical engineer.    

 
14. The wireless communications facility which provides service to the general public shall 

be designed to survive a natural disaster without interruption in operation. To this end, 
the measures listed in section 17.98.200 of the Municipal Code shall be implemented. 

 
15. Wireless communications providers shall provide the city with a notice of intent to vacate 

a site a minimum of thirty days prior to the vacation, and all other forms of cessation of 
operation on-site shall follow the rules and regulations set forth in Municipal Code 
section 17.98.210. 

 

5.A

Packet Pg. 55



 
 

16. In the event that the original permittee (Verizon) sells its interest in a wireless 
communication facility, the succeeding carrier shall assume all responsibilities 
concerning the project and shall be held responsible to the city for maintaining 
consistency with all project conditions of approval, including proof of liability insurance. 
A new contact name for the project (#15-109) shall be provided by the succeeding 
carrier to the community development department within thirty days of transfer of 
interest of the facility. 

 
17. This permit shall be valid for a period of ten years. An approval may be extended 

administratively from the initial approval date for a subsequent ten years and may be 
extended administratively every ten years thereafter upon the verification of the wireless 
communications provider’s continued compliance with Municipal Code chapter 17.98 
and with the findings and conditions of approval under which the application was 
originally approved. This does not apply to preexisting legal nonconforming uses. 

 
18. Should the director determine that the wireless communications facility may no longer 

be in compliance, the director may, at his or her discretion, schedule a public hearing 
before the planning commission at which the planning commission may modify or 
revoke an approval in accordance with chapter 17.98.240 of the Municipal Code. 

 
19. All wireless communications facilities shall meet the current standards and regulations 

of the Federal Communications Commission, the California Public Utilities Commission, 
and any other agency of the federal or state government with the authority to regulate 
wireless communications providers. If such standards and regulations are changed, the 
wireless communications provider shall bring its facilities into compliance with such 
revised standards and regulations within ninety days of the effective date of such 
standards and regulations, unless a more stringent compliance schedule is mandated 
by the controlling federal or state agency. Failure to bring wireless communications 
facilities into compliance with such revised standards and regulations shall constitute 
grounds for the immediate removal of such facilities at the wireless communications 
provider’s expense. 

 
 
FINDINGS 

A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of 
the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan.   
The Planning Commission reviewed and approved the applications with conditions of 
approval with respect to the maintenance, design and operation of the use to ensure that 
the new wireless facility will not have a negative impact on the surrounding residential 
uses and secure the general purposes of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan.  
 

B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
The Planning Commission reviewed and approved the application with conditions of 
approval to ensure that the antenna will not extend beyond the approved height of 47 
feet ten-inches and will not be visually intrusive so as to preserve the character and 
identity of the neighborhood. The new equipment will match the color and design of the 
existing pole in an area lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view 
corridor.   
 

C. This project is categorically exempt under the Section 15301 of the California 

5.A

Packet Pg. 56



 
 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
The proposed project involves the construction of a new, small-cell Verizon wireless 
antenna facility. The project will result in a minor modification and addition to an existing 
utility pole. Section 15301 exempts the minor alteration of existing facilities.  

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Project Plans and Information 
2. Site Planning and Zoning Summary 
3. Wireless Facility Findings of Approval 

 
Prepared By: Ryan Safty 
  Assistant Planner 

5.A

Packet Pg. 57



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

TN

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

STEEL

WP
S

S

S

T

E

T/E

E

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

S

T

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



.

EXP 09-30-16
C 69891

ES

T

C

V

D
ra
ft
in
g

5.A.1

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

15
24

 :
 U

ti
lit

y 
P

o
le

 #
35

01
)



Site Planning and Zoning Summary
The following outlines the zoning code requirements for new wireless antenna development in 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District relative to the application. 

General Requirements (17.98.080)

17.98.080 - B: Restricted Zoning Districts: prohibited within 500 feet (and also 300 feet) 
of the following districts: 

Single-Family Residential 
Multi-Family Residential 
Mobile Home 
Commercial residential 
Parks and open space 
Public Facilities 
Transient rental use overlay 

The proposal does not comply. Verizon’s proposal is located on an existing utility pole within 

the Wharf Road right-of-way adjacent to the residence at 2091 Wharf Rd (Single-Family 
Residential), just 40 feet from the future Rispin Park property, approximately 100 feet from the 

public library due south (Public Facility), 130 feet from the mobile home park due west, 200 feet 
from multi-family residences due north, 130 feet from Francesco Circle planned development 
residences due south-west, and less than 500 feet from the residential properties due east 

(Riverview Drive) and south (Clares St). The proposed site does not comply with the restricted 
zoning district setbacks.  

17.98.080 – C: Restricted Coastal Areas – School Areas – Skilled Nursing Facility Areas: 
“absolutely prohibited in areas that lie within one thousand feet of the coastline [….] and 
five hundred feet of a school property or skilled nursing facility.” 

The proposal complies. The proposal is located over 3,000 feet from the beach due south, 
zoned “Public Facility – Parks, Open Space” and is located over 500 feet from any school area or 
skilled nursing facility.  

17.98.080 – E: Compliance with FCC Regulations: 
The proposal complies. The applicant submitted an engineering report verifying that they will 
comply with FCC regulations. 

17.98.080 – F: Co-location: when feasible, co-location onto existing sites is required 
The proposal complies. applicant submitted a statement to why co-location would not work with 
Verizon’s proposal to close a coverage gap and a stated that they would be open to other 
carriers co-locating. 

17.98.080 – G: Visual Effect: facilities located so as to minimized their visual impact as 
much as possible 

The proposal complies. Staff feels that the proposed antenna facility will have a minimal impact 
due to it being an addition on to an existing utility pole and since it will be painted to blend with 
the existing wooden pole. Although the proposal will increase the height of the pole by eight feet, 
the proposal will have only minor visual impacts. The facility will be visible, but it will not be 
visually intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of the existing pole in an 
area lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view corridor  

17.98.080 – H: Landscaping: 
Not required. No major landscaping proposed to be added or removed with the utility pole 
extension.  

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 Z

o
n

in
g

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
15

24
 :

 U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



Location Standards (17.98.090)
17.98.090 – A: Location preferences: 

1.  Industrial or Commercial Sites 
2.  Attached to existing structures (ex. Utility pole) 
3.  Not highly visible from visually sensitive areas 

The proposal does not comply. Although the proposed cell site complies with preferences 
2, it does not comply with number 1 and 3. The site is proposed to be located in a road right-
of-way, adjacent to residential zones. Also, the eight foot addition on to the existing utility pole 
will be visible from Wharf Rd.

17.98.090 – B: In no event may a wireless facility be located within three hundred feet of 
a restricted zoning district. 

The proposal does not comply. The proposed Verizon antenna would be adjacent to the 
residence at 2091 Wharf Rd (Single-Family Residential), just 40 feet from the future Rispin Park 
property, approximately 100 feet from the public library due south (Public Facility), 130 feet from 
the mobile home park due west, 200 feet from multi-family residences due north, and 130 feet 
from Francesco Circle planned development residences due south-west. 

Preferred antenna siting and mounting techniques (17.98.100)

Techniques are listed in order of preference:  

1. Façade-mounted 
2. Roof-mounted 
3. Ground-mounted 
4. Freestanding monopole 

The proposal does not comply. The proposal is for an extension to an existing utility pole. The 
proposal does not fall into any of the above siting techniques, however since it is not mounted on 
to an existing building or roof, it is not the most preferred siting and mounting technique. Verizon’s 
proposal best fits within the freestanding monopole category, although it involves an addition to 
an existing utility pole. 

Setbacks and projections into yards (17.98.120)

17.98.150 – D: The clear vertical height under a projection shall be at least 15 feet. 
The proposal complies. Verizon is proposing a new electrical meter on to the existing utility 
pole that will be just seven feet above grade. The meter only slightly projects past the existing 
pole, and is located in a road right-of-way with no sidewalk or pedestrian access. Staff has no 
safety concerns with the meter’s location. The only portion of the proposal that extends over a 
public access area is the new cross-arms for the pole, which will be 38 feet above grade. 

17.98.150 – A: Wireless facilities shall comply with applicable setback regulations of the 
zoning district in which they are situated. 

The proposal does not comply. Proposal is adjacent to a single-family residential property (R-1), 
however it is located in the road right-of-way. The proposal does not meet any standards of the R-
1 zoning district; the Municipal Code does not address specific setbacks for wireless facilities 
within residential zoning because it is a restricted zone. 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 Z

o
n

in
g

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
15

24
 :

 U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



Projections into public rights-of-way (17.98.160) – (only related requirements are 
listed)

17.98.160 – A: Equipment on to existing telephone poles may extend over a sidewalk or 
street, subject to the director and director of public works approvals: 

The proposal complies. There is no sidewalk on the west side of Wharf Rd. Only one 
portion of the wireless antenna proposal extends over the Wharf Road, which is the new 
cross-arm per PG&E requirements. The new cross-arm will be 38 feet above existing 
grade. The Public Works director has no concern with this slight encroachment. 

17.98.160 – D: Clear vertical height under a projection shall be at least 15 feet: 
The proposal complies. Verizon is proposing a new electrical meter on to the existing utility pole 
that will be seven feet above grade. The meter only slightly projects past the existing pole, and is 
located in a road right-of-way with no sidewalk or pedestrian access. Staff has no safety 
concerns with the new meter’s location. The only portion of the proposal that extends over a 
public access area is the new cross-arms for the pole, which extends over Wharf Road and will be 
38 feet above grade. 

Conclusion:
In summary, the proposed wireless antenna addition on to an existing utility pole adjacent to 2091 
Wharf Road does not comply with the Municipal Code. Specifically, the site is located within 
restricted zone setbacks. However, the proposal conforms to the design criteria listed within the 
code.  

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

it
e 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 Z

o
n

in
g

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
15

24
 :

 U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



WIRELESS FACILITY FINDINGS 
The following findings were prepared to demonstrate consistency of the proposed project 
with sections 17.98.080 through 17.98.120 of the Capitola Municipal Code. 

17.98.080 General requirements. 
A. All wireless communications facilities, except for exempt facilities described in 
Section 17.98.010, shall comply with all applicable goals, objectives and policies of the 
general plan/local coastal program, area plans, zoning regulations and development 
standards; the California Coastal Act; and are subject to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA). 

General Plan Policy LU-1.2 Design Quality. Require all new development to feature 
high quality design that enhances the visual character of the community. 

Finding: The applicant has submitted photo simulations of the proposed utility pole 
addition, which show the new equipment being painted with a non-reflective brown finish 
to blend with the existing wooden utility pole. The new facility does not enhance the 
visual character of the community, but it also does not constitute a negative visual 
impact to the community. Although the new facility will be visible, it will not be visually 
intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of the existing pole in an area 
lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view corridor. The Planning 
Commission may condition the application to include additional screening materials.  

Policy LU-4.7 Planning Projects. Ensure that future planning efforts for non-
residential areas carefully consider potential impacts on adjacent residential 
neighborhoods. 

Finding: The planning review of the antenna facility carefully considered potential 
impacts on adjacent residential neighborhoods.  Chapter 17.98.080 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code requires that new wireless antenna facilities be located a minimum of 
500 feet from residential districts. In addition, chapter 17.98.090 states that the facility 
may “in no event less than three hundred feet” from residential districts. The proposed 
facility is located within the required 300 and 500 foot setback of residential properties; 
the facility would be ten feet from a Single-Family zoned residence at 2091 Wharf Road, 
roughly 130 feet from the mobile home park due west, 200 feet from multi-family 
residences due north, 130 feet from Francesco Circle planned development residences 
due south-west, and less than 500 feet from the residential properties due east 
(Riverview Drive) and south (Clares St). However, the applicant has claimed that the 
City’s regulations are too restrictive and are thus prohibiting the carrier from filling a gap 
in their coverage. Verizon submitted a “significant gap” and “least intrusive means” 
analysis to prove this. The analysis showed that there is a gap in cell coverage and data 
capacity at this location has reached its limit, and that the proposed facility would 
constitute the “least intrusive means” of filling said gap.   

Policy OSC-6.3 Development Projects. Ensure that new development avoids, 
minimizes, and/or mitigates impacts to biological resources and sensitive habitat. 

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



Finding: According to Section 332(c) of the Communications Act, “No State or local 
government or instrumentality thereof may regulate the placement, construction, and 
modification of personal wireless service facilities on the basis of the environmental 
effects of radio frequency emissions to the extent that such facilities comply with the 
Commission’s regulations concerning such emissions.” Therefore, Radio Frequency 
(RF) emissions were not reviewed as a part of this application. Besides potential RF 
emissions, the project will not impact biological resources and sensitive habitat. 

Policy MO-4.3 Streetscape Design. Ensure that street trees, landscaping, and other 
streetscape design features on Capitola’s main arterials support a high quality 
design environment. 

Finding: The proposed pole extension and new wireless facility will be visible from the 
adjacent Wharf Road corridor. The antenna and equipment is proposed to be painted 
with a non-reflective brown finish to match that of the existing wooden pole. Condition # 
6 requires that the final choice of colors and finish be approved by the community 
development department. The antenna facility is only visible while commuting along the 
north section of Wharf Road. Although the new facility will be visible, it will not be visually 
intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of the existing pole in an area 
lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view corridor. No landscaping 
changes are proposed.  

Policy SN-4.3 Sensitive Receptors. Prohibit land uses and development that emit 
obnoxious odors, particulates, light, glare, or other environmentally sensitive 
contaminants from being located near schools, community centers, senior homes, 
and other sensitive receptors. 

Finding: Chapter 17.98.080 of the Capitola Municipal Code requires that new wireless 
antenna facilities be located a minimum of 500 feet from public facilities and residential 
districts. In addition, chapter 17.98.090 states that the facility may “in no event less than 
three hundred feet” from the restricted districts. Subsection C also requires a 500 foot 
setback from schools and nursing facilities. The proposal is located over 3,000 feet from the 
beach due south, zoned “Public Facility – Parks, Open Space” and is located over 500 feet from 
any school area or skilled nursing facility. However, the facility would be ten feet from a 
Single-Family zoned residence at 2091 Wharf Road, 100 feet from the public library due south 
(community center), 40 feet from the approved Risipin Park project, 130 feet from the mobile 
home park due west, 200 feet from multi-family residences due north, 130 feet from Francesco 
Circle planned development residences due south-west, and less than 500 feet from the 
residential properties due east (Riverview Drive) and south (Clares St).The applicant submitted 
a “significant gap” report and “least intrusive means” analysis which proved the necessity of 
this new site in filling a gap in their coverage.

According to Section 332(c) of the Communications Act, “No State or local government or 
instrumentality thereof may regulate the placement, construction, and modification of 
personal wireless service facilities on the basis of the environmental effects of radio 
frequency emissions to the extent that such facilities comply with the Commission’s 
regulations concerning such emissions.” Therefore, Radio Frequency (RF) emissions were 
not reviewed as a part of this application. Besides potential RF emissions, the project will 
not impact biological resources and sensitive habitat. 

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



Policy ED-1.6 Expanded Services. Support the expansion of services and amenities 
that cater to both tourists and residents. 

Finding: The purpose of Verizon’s proposed cellular antenna is to improve coverage and 
cell capacity in the area surrounding 2091 Wharf Road and the Capitola Public Library. Cell 
services are used by both tourists and residents.  

B. Restricted Zoning Districts.  
Wireless communication facilities shall generally be allowed on parcels in nonresidential 
zoning districts. Wireless communication facilities are prohibited within or five hundred feet 
of the following zoning districts, subject only to exceptions as described in 
Section 17.98.080(D) of this section. 

1. Single-family residence (R-1); 
2. Multiple family residence – Low medium (RM-LM); 
3. Multiple family residence – Medium (RM-M); 
4. Multiple family residence – High (RM-H); 
5. Mobilehome exclusive (MHE); 
6. Commercial residential (CR); 
7. Parks and open space (P/OS); 
8. Public facilities (PF); 
9. Transient rental use overlay (TRO). 

Finding: The location of the proposed facility relative to setbacks from prohibited districts 
have been analyzed and considered by staff. The proposed facility is located within the 
required 500 foot setback of single-family and multi-family residential zoning, and mobile 
home exclusive zoning. However, the applicant has claimed that the City’s regulations are 
too restrictive and are thus prohibiting the carrier from filling a gap in their coverage, 
pursuant to section 17.98.080-D of the Capitola Municipal Code. Verizon submitted a 
“significant gap” and “least intrusive means” analysis to prove this. The analysis showed 
that there is a gap in cell coverage and available data capacity at this location and that the 
proposed facility would constitute the “least intrusive means” of filling said gap.   

C. Restricted Coastal Areas – School Areas – Skilled Nursing Facility Areas.  
To the extent that this subsection’s coastline protection objective can be accomplished 
consistent with the Federal Communications Act of 1996 and any other applicable federal or 
state law, wireless communication facilities shall be prohibited in areas that lie within three 
thousand feet of the coastline. Wireless communication facilities shall be absolutely 
prohibited in areas that lie within one thousand feet of the coastline. Wireless 
communication facilities shall also be prohibited in areas that lie within five hundred feet of a 
school property or a skilled nursing facility that cares for patients on a long-term basis. No 
portion of a wireless facility shall extend onto or impede access to a public beach. The 

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



restrictions set forth in this subsection are subject to the exceptions set forth in subsection D 
of this section. 

Finding: The proposed wireless facility is located roughly 3,600 feet from the coastline; it 
would comply with both the 1,000 and 3,000 foot regulations. The proposed facility will be 
located over 500 feet from school areas and skilled nursing facilities. The proposal complies 
with the restricted coastal areas, school areas, and nursing facilities section. 

D. Exceptions to Restricted Areas.  
Wireless communication facilities may be sited in the restricted zoning and coastal areas 
described above only in situations where the applicant can prove that: 

1. The proposed wireless communication facility would eliminate or substantially 
reduce one or more significant gaps in the applicant carrier’s network; and 
2. There are no viable, technically feasible, and environmentally (e.g., visually) 
equivalent or superior potential alternatives (i.e., sites/facility types) outside the 
restricted zoning districts or coastal areas that could eliminate or substantially reduce 
said significant gap(s). 

Finding: The proposed facility would be sited within restricted zoning areas. However, the 
applicant submitted a “significant gap” and “least intrusive means” analysis to prove that the 
subject location is necessary. The analysis showed that there is a gap in cell coverage and 
available data capacity at this location and that the proposed facility would constitute the 
“least intrusive means” of filling said gap.  

E. Compliance with FCC Regulations.  
Wireless communication facilities shall comply with all Federal Communication Commission 
(FCC) rules, regulations, and standards. Every two years the wireless telecommunications 
service provider shall submit to the director of community development: (1) a certification by 
a licensed engineer that the emissions are within the current FCC standards; and (2) a 
report on the level of cumulative radio frequency emissions within an eight hundred-foot 
radius from the subject antenna. 

Finding: Condition # 5 been included to require compliance with FCC regulations. Every two 
years the applicant must submit documentation from a licensed engineer showing that 
emissions are within the current FCC standards.  

F. Co-location.  
Where technically, legally, and fiscally feasible, co-location of new wireless communication 
facilities onto existing telecommunication ground-mounted and freestanding monopole 
towers shall be required. Co-location may require that height extensions be made to 
existing towers or wireless telecommunications facilities to accommodate additional users, 
or may involve constructing new multi-user facilities that replace existing single-user 
capacity towers. 

Finding: Verizon submitted a Collocation Statement as a part of their submittal package,  
that explains a collocation on to an existing site would not help improve their cellular gap 
and that both the landlord and applicant are open to other service providers collocating on 
this site as long as it is technically feasible. Verizon will cooperate with the City in the event 
of a future proposed collocation project. 

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



G. Visual Effect. All proposed wireless telecommunications facilities shall be located so as 
to minimize their visual impact to the maximum extent feasible. Measures to achieve this 
objective may include but are not limited to the following: 

1. The applicant shall use the smallest and least visible antennas feasible to accomplish the 
owners/operator’s coverage objectives. All wireless telecommunications facilities proposed 
for locations where they would be readily visible from the public right-of-way or from the 
habitable living areas of residential units within one hundred feet shall incorporate 
appropriate techniques to camouflage or disguise the facility, and/or blend it into the 
surrounding environment, to the extent feasible. 

Finding: Staff included Condition # 6 to require non-reflective finishing of equipment to 
ensure that the visual effect of the proposed wireless facility is minimized to the maximum 
extent feasible. Staff feels that the proposed antenna facility will have a minimal impact due 
to it being an addition on to an existing utility pole and since it will be painted to blend with 
the existing wooden pole. Although the new facility will be visible, it will not be visually 

intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of the existing pole in an area 
lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view corridor

2. Facilities shall be compatible in scale and integrated architecturally with the design of 
surrounding buildings or the natural setting. Wireless telecommunication facilities located 
on historic features (as defined in Chapter 17.87), a national or California registered 
historic building, or within a designated historic district, shall be limited to facade-mounted 
facilities only and integrated architecturally with the style and character of the structure or 
otherwise made unobtrusive. No wireless communications facility shall be sited such that its 
design and/or construction will damage an archeological site. 

Finding: Staff included Condition # 6 to require non-reflective finishing of equipment to 
ensure that the visual effect of the proposed wireless facility is minimized and that the new 
antenna equipment will blend in with the existing wooden utility pole. The existing utility pole 
is not considered an historic structure.

3. Whenever possible, base transceiver stations, equipment cabinets and buildings, back-
up generators, and other equipment associated with building-mounted antennas should be 
installed within the existing building envelope. If this is not feasible, the equipment shall be 
as low profile, screened, fenced, landscaped, painted, or otherwise treated architecturally to 
minimize its appearance from off-site locations and to visually blend with the surrounding 
natural and built environment. Equipment buildings should be designed in an architectural 
style and constructed of exterior building materials that are consistent with surrounding 
development and/or land use setting (if applicable) and should be a visually pleasing 
feature.

Finding: Staff included Condition # 6 to require non-reflective finishing of equipment to 
ensure that the visual effect of the proposed wireless facility is minimized and that the new 
antenna equipment will blend in with the existing wooden utility pole.    

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



4. All ground-mounted base transceiver stations, equipment cabinets, and utility panels for 
telecommunications facilities shall be limited to a maximum height of six feet above grade 
unless other techniques are adopted to ensure minimal visual impact. Base transceiver 
stations, equipment cabinets, and utility panels that are taller may be partially buried 
underground or installed by use of another technique to maintain the six foot height limit. 
Greater height may be granted upon a finding that it is not possible to meet the height 
limitation and that adequate screening of the equipment is provided. 

Finding: The proposed ancillary equipment is located on an existing utility pole. There is no 
ground-mounted equipment proposed. 

5. No advertising signage or identifying logos shall be displayed on wireless 
telecommunications facilities, except for small identification plates used for emergency 
notification or hazardous or toxic materials warning. 

Finding: Condition # 9 requires emergency contact signage. There is no other signage 
proposed with this application.   

6. Applicants are encouraged to consider providing architectural treatments and 
to use “stealth techniques” to reduce potential visual impacts for all telecommunication 
facilities. Stealth techniques are especially encouraged in areas easily visible from a major 
traffic corridor or commercial center or in residential areas. Stealth techniques may be 
required as conditions of approval when determined to be necessary to mitigate adverse 
visual impacts. However, under no circumstances will “in wall” cell towers, i.e., cell towers 
constructed partially or wholly within the walls of a building, be permitted. 

Finding: Since the proposal is for an addition on to an existing utility pole, screening 
techniques would cause the proposed facility to be larger and thus more visible. The most 
effective way to incorporate “stealth techniques” is to paint the new equipment as proposed 
and as required per Condition # 5. 

7. All facilities shall be designed to be resistant to and minimize opportunities for 
unauthorized access, climbing, vandalism, graffiti, and other conditions that would result in 
hazardous conditions, visual blight, or attractive nuisances. The director may require the 
provision of warning signs, fencing, anti-climbing devices, or other techniques to prevent 
unauthorized access and vandalism when, because of their location and/or accessibility, 
antenna facilities have the potential to become an attractive nuisance. The design of the 
fencing and other access control devices shall be subject to design review. 

Finding: Condition # 9 requires warning and safety signage and Condition # 10 requires that 
the facility to be maintained graffiti free. The proposed facility would be located on an 
existing utility pole, roughly 48 feet above grade, which will help restrict unauthorized 
access.

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



H. Landscaping. Landscaping may be required to visually screen wireless communications 
facilities from adjacent properties or public view and/or to provide a backdrop to camouflage 
the facilities. All proposed landscaping is subject to the director’s review and approval. 
Landscaping guidelines include, but are not limited to, the following: 
1. To the extent feasible, existing on-site vegetation shall be preserved or improved, and 
disturbance of the existing topography shall be minimized. Additional trees and other 
vegetation shall be planted and maintained around the facility, in the vicinity of the project 
site, and along access roads in appropriate situations where such vegetation is deemed 
necessary to provide screening of wireless communications facilities and related access 
roads. 
2. All trees used in landscaping shall be a minimum of fifteen gallons in size and all shrubs 
in a minimum of five gallons, unless otherwise approved. 
3. Existing trees and other screening vegetation in the vicinity of the proposed facility and 
associated access-ways shall be protected from damage both during and after construction. 
4. Where applicable, the applicant shall enter into a landscape performance and 
maintenance agreement with the city to ensure the installation and establishment of 
required landscaping. This agreement shall be secured by financial guarantees acceptable 
to the director in an amount equal to one hundred fifty percent of the estimated cost of 
materials and labor for required improvements. The duration of the landscape maintenance 
agreement shall be for the length of the permit. 
5. All landscape design shall meet the water efficiency landscaping requirements of 
Chapter 17.97 of this title, including installing or upgrading existing irrigation systems if 
necessary. 

Finding: There is no proposed landscaping modifications associated with this proposal, 
being that it is completely off of the ground. If the applicant later decides to remove 
landscaping, they must meet the above requirements. 

I. Access Roads.  
All wireless communications facilities shall use existing access roads, where available. 
Unless visual impacts can be adequately mitigated, no new access roads shall be allowed 
with any proposed wireless communications facility. 

Finding: No new access roads are proposed therefore this criteria is not applicable.  

J. Minor Modifications.  
Minor modifications to wireless communications facility equipment design, location, height, 
and other elements may be allowed, subject to the approval of the director, if such 
modifications are in keeping with the architectural statement and layout design of the 
original approval, and meet the requirements of this chapter. (Ord. 862 § 1, 2003) 

Finding: This proposal involves a new wireless site, not a modification to an existing facility. 
This criteria is not applicable.  

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



17.98.080 Location standards. 
A. Location preference for wireless communications facilities should be given to the 
following locations: 

1. Industrial or commercial sites; 
2. Facilities attached or sited adjacent to existing structures. Appropriate types of 
existing structures may include, but not be limited to, buildings, telephone and utility 
poles, signage and sign standards, traffic signals, light standards and flagpoles; 
3. Sites that are not highly visible from adjacent roadways, public areas, parks, 
schools, or other visually sensitive areas, as determined by the director. 

Finding: The application has analyzed the preferred locations for wireless communications 
facility.  The proposal is located upon an existing utility pole, which is the second preferred 
location standard. The site is visible from adjacent Wharf Road. Although the new facility will 
be visible, it will not be visually intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of 
the existing pole in an area lined with other utility poles, and is not located in a sensitive view 
corridor. The proposal conforms to the location standards.

B. A wireless communications facility shall not be located in any non-residential zoning 
district unless the proposed facility is located as far away as is feasible from the property 
lines of restricted zoning districts as described in Section 17.98.080, as determined by the 
director and in no event less than three hundred feet. 

Finding: The location of the proposed facility relative to setbacks from prohibited districts 
have been analyzed and considered by staff. The proposed facility is located within the 
required 300 foot setback of restricted residential zones; the facility would be ten feet from a 
Single-Family zoned residence at 2091 Wharf Road, roughly 130 feet from the mobile home 
park due west, 200 feet from multi-family residences due north, 130 feet from Francesco 
Circle planned development residences due south-west. However, the applicant has 
claimed that the City’s regulations are too restrictive and are thus prohibiting the carrier from 
filling a gap in their coverage. Verizon submitted a “significant gap” and “least intrusive 
means” analysis to prove this. The analysis showed that there is a gap in cell coverage and 
available data capacity at this location and that the proposed facility would constitute the 
“least intrusive means” of filling said gap.   

C. When feasible and in conformance with other provisions of this chapter, wireless 
communications providers shall be encouraged to locate their wireless communications 
facilities on publicly owned or controlled property or right-of-way. 

Finding: The applicant has proposed to locate the new wireless facility on public property, 
within the Wharf Road right-of-way. 

D. Amateur radio facilities are prohibited on public property in any zoning district, unless the 
facility meets the requirements of Section 17.98.030(B) of this chapter. (Ord. 862 § 1, 2003) 

Finding: This proposal does not constitute an “amateur radio facility”, thus section D does 
not apply.  

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



17.98.100 Preferred antenna siting and mounting techniques.
The following wireless telecommunications facilities and mounting techniques are listed in 
order of preference: 

A. Facade-mounted facilities; 
B. Roof-mounted facilities; 
C. Ground-mounted facilities; 
D. Freestanding monopole facilities. (Ord. 862 § 1, 2003) 

Finding: The proposal is for an extension to an existing utility pole. The proposal does not 
fall into any of the above siting techniques, however since it is not mounted on to an existing 
building or roof, it is not the most preferred siting and mounting technique. Verizon’s 
proposal best fits within the freestanding monopole category, although it involves an 
addition to an existing utility pole. 

17.98.140 Freestanding monopole wireless telecommunication facilities.
A. Freestanding monopoles shall be located and designed to minimize visual impacts. For 
example, a monopole could be located in a grove of existing trees so that natural screening 
or background is provided. Freestanding monopoles in high visibility locations shall 
incorporate “stealth techniques” to camouflage them as a piece of art/sculpture, a clock 
tower, flag pole, tree or other interesting, appropriate and compatible visual form. Such 
stealth installations shall be used when the siting and surrounding environment helps them 
to blend with the setting. Freestanding monopoles may not be located within the required 
front yard setback of any property, unless appropriate architectural elements for a “stealth 
facility” are incorporated in the design of the monopole. 

Finding: The proposal is for an extension to an existing utility pole. The proposed antenna 
equipment will be painted with a non-reflective brown color to match with the existing pole. 
Incorporating additional stealth techniques will cause the proposal to be more visible due to 
the minimalistic design of the utility pole and due to the proposed height of the new 
equipment. 

B. Freestanding monopoles shall be prohibited in the Capitola Village unless all other types 
of wireless communication facility structures are considered not technically feasible. 

Finding: The proposal is for an extension to an existing utility pole at the northern end of 
Wharf Road. The proposal is not within the Capitola Village and thus complies.

C. Freestanding monopoles shall generally not be allowed within one thousand feet of each 
other except when the cumulative visual impacts are not significant. 

Finding: The nearest wireless monopole is located nearly 3,000 feet away, in the industrial 
park area off of Kennedy Drive.

D. Freestanding monopoles shall be designed at the minimum functional height required. 
The height of monopoles shall be reviewed on a case-by-case basis for the visual impact on 
the neighborhood and community. The director may require an independent review through 
a supplementary report, paid for in advance by the applicant, to evaluate the applicant’s 
request. Factors to be considered are: whether or not another site exists where a more 

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)



preferred method of installation could be met; whether the future addition of another 
wireless telecommunications facility could affect the future height of the proposed facility; 
and whether there is any other technically feasible method of siting the facility that would 
reduce the overall proposed height. (Ord. 862 § 1, 2003) 

Finding: The applicant submitted an Alternative Sites Analysis report which explains why 
this site was chosen, what extend of the existing PG&E pole that Verizon is permitted to 
modify, and that the new antenna must maintain 6 feet of clearance from the power line for 
safety. In addition, the applicant provided photo simulations of the wireless facility, showing 
that it will not be visually intrusive on the neighborhood. Although the new facility will be 
visible, it will not be visually intrusive. The new equipment will match the color and design of the 
existing pole in an area lined with other utility poles.

5.A.3

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 W

ir
el

es
s 

F
ac

ili
ty

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(1
52

4 
: 

U
ti

lit
y 

P
o

le
 #

35
01

)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	1. Roll Call

	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Approval of Minutes
	A. Minutes of Jun 2, 2016 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Jun 2, 2016 7:00 PM


	4. Consent Calendar
	A. 3801 Clares Street
	Printout: 3801 Clares Street
	1. Frank Jesse Letter

	B. 145 Wesley Street
	Printout: 145 Wesley Street
	1. 145 Wesley Plans


	5. Public Hearings
	A. Utility Pole #3501
	Printout: Utility Pole #3501
	1. Project Plans and Information
	2. Site Planning and Zoning Summary
	3. Wireless Facility Findings of Approval


	6. Director's Report
	7. Commission Communications
	8. Adjournment

	Appendix
	3.A · Minutes of Jun 2, 2016 7:00 PM
	4.A · 3801 Clares Street
	4.A.1 · Frank Jesse Letter

	4.B · 145 Wesley Street
	4.B.1 · 145 Wesley Plans

	5.A · Utility Pole #3501
	5.A.1 · Project Plans and Information
	5.A.2 · Site Planning and Zoning Summary
	5.A.3 · Wireless Facility Findings of Approval



